In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Case No

٧.

FLOYD LAVENDER, et al.,

Defendant and Appellant.

SUPREME COURT FILED

APR 1 5 2013

Appellate District Division One, Case No. D057686 Frank A. McGuire Clerk
San Diego County Superior Court, Case No. JCF21567
Honorable Donal B. Donnelly, Judge Deputy

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ISSUE PRESENTED

Where a reviewing court is presented with conflicting affidavits that create material, disputed issues of fact regarding the nature and extent of jury misconduct, should it remand the matter to the trial court for a limited hearing [People v. Hedgecock (1990) 51 Cal.3d 395 (Hedgecock)], so that the record may be fully developed before it determines whether the presumption of prejudice has been rebutted?

REASONS FOR REVIEW

This is Respondent's second Petition for Review in this case. On October 24, 2012, this Court unanimously granted Respondent's previous Petition for Review, and transferred the matter to the Court of Appeal with directions to vacate its decision and reconsider the cause in light of *People v. Bryant* (2011) 191 Cal.App.4th 1457, 1462-1471 (*Bryant*); *People v. Von Villas* (1992) 11 Cal.App.4th 175, 251-261 (*Von Villas*); and *People v. Perez* (1992) 4 Cal.App.4th 893, 905-909 (*Perez*). All three opinions concluded a remand for an evidentiary hearing was the appropriate remedy.

On March 6, 2013, the Court of Appeal issued its modified opinion and concluded, "We have examined *Perez*, as well as its progeny *Bryant* and *Von Villas*, and conclude those cases are both distinguishable and involve questionable legal reasoning that should not be perpetuated, and

therefore our original disposition should remain unchanged." (Opn. at 4.) The Court of Appeal added, "After reconsideration, we remain convinced the misconduct by this jury in discussing the adverse inference to be drawn from defendants' failure to testify was presumptively prejudicial and, because the evidentiary basis for the guilty verdict appeared diaphanous and was in many respects in disarray, the record in this case is inadequate to rebut that presumption." (Opn. at 4.)

The Court of Appeal's modified opinion failed to squarely address an issue that is central to the resolution of this case: What exactly did the parties' affidavits prove, given their contradictory nature? Instead, it begged that question by concluding the defense affidavits established that the jurors committed prejudicial misconduct. In doing so, the Court of Appeal acted as the trier of fact, chose to credit the account of the misconduct that was contained in the defense affidavits, and then made its determination that appellants suffered actual harm without giving the court below the opportunity to receive additional evidence and testimony, assess the credibility of the declarants, and make the crucial findings of fact in the first instance.

This Court should grant review in order to settle an important question of law: under what circumstances is a remand for an evidentiary hearing, as opposed to an outright reversal, warranted in the context of jury bias claims that present conflicting affidavits? To the extent that *Perez*, *Von Villas* and *Bryant* are flawed, or that they conflict with another line of cases, those circumstances only serve to highlight the need for review in this case, so that this Court may provide guidance to intermediate appellate courts through the exercise of its supervisory authority.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

The facts and the procedural background were set forth in detail in Respondent's prior Petition for Review. They are briefly summarized and updated below.

Appellants terrorized Kristen Martin, Mike Hughes, Thayne Tolces, and the victim, 14-year-old Courtney Bowser, for nine hours, using a hammer, nails, a chisel, and hair clippers in the process. They also took or carried a handcuffed Courtney from the scene and later drowned her in an irrigation canal.

After their convictions for murder, kidnapping, and torture, appellants filed a motion for a new trial, based in part on allegations of juror misconduct. In support of their motion, appellants attached affidavits from three jurors and a defense investigator, which alleged that several jurors had discussed at length the fact that appellants had failed to testify, and had concluded they were guilty for that reason. In opposition to the motion, the prosecution provided affidavits from four jurors, including two of the same jurors who had also provided affidavits to the defense. Those affidavits declared that only one juror had briefly mentioned appellants' failure to testify, and that he was quickly admonished by several other jurors, including the foreperson, that he was not to consider that fact.

The trial court denied appellants' motion, and sentenced them both to a term of life with the possibility of parole, consecutive to an additional indeterminate term of 30 years to life. Appellants appealed the judgment. Division One of the Fourth District Court of Appeal (the Court of Appeal) reversed and remanded the matter for a new trial, finding that the prosecution's affidavits had failed to rebut the presumption of prejudice arising from the misconduct alleged in the affidavits presented by the defense.

On August 21, 2012, Respondent filed its first Petition for Review. On October 24, 2012, this Court unanimously granted Respondent's Petition for Review, and transferred the matter to the Court of Appeal with directions to vacate its decision and reconsider the cause in light of *Bryant*, *Von Villas* and *Perez*. The Court of Appeal filed its modified opinion on March 6, 2013, and after analyzing those cases, it again concluded that a new trial, and not a remand for an evidentiary hearing, was warranted.

ARGUMENT

I. WHERE A REVIEWING COURT IS PRESENTED WITH CONTRADICTORY DECLARATIONS IN SUPPORT OF AND OPPOSITION TO A CLAIM OF PREJUDICIAL JUROR MISCONDUCT, IT SHOULD REMAND THE MATTER FOR AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING, SO THAT THE TRIER OF FACT MAY RESOLVE THE EVIDENTIARY CONFLICTS BY TAKING TESTIMONY, ASSESSING THE CREDIBILITY OF THE WITNESSES, AND MAKING THE CRUCIAL FINDINGS OF FACT IN THE FIRST INSTANCE

The Court of Appeal's opinion distinguished *Perez*, *Von Villas*, and *Bryant* either by criticizing their evidentiary rulings or by asserting that the facts of the instant case are different, since in its view the defense met its burden by submitting affidavits that established the jury had committed prejudicial misconduct. (Opn. at 20-21, fn. 22, 39-48.) In the course of its analysis the Court of Appeal also rejected its own precedent in *Perez*, and did so in an unpublished disposition, thereby preventing other appellate courts from relying on its reasoning or citing its opinion as authority. Finally, the Court of Appeal's opinion sidestepped the broader proposition advanced by those three cases – that there are instances where motions for a new trial based on jury misconduct cannot be resolved without holding an evidentiary hearing, especially under circumstances where the record requires further development, credibility determinations must be made, and material factual conflicts must be resolved. Such is the case here.

The Court of Appeal first addressed Perez, and found that the remedy of a remand for an evidentiary hearing in that case was unsupported by applicable legal precedent: "Indeed, absent some pertinent law that makes new trial motions based on jury misconduct different from other matters that trial courts must decide, we are unable to understand why a trial court would be precluded from ruling on a new trial motion based on jury misconduct established by presumed or stipulated facts, considering the numerous other proceedings in which such a procedure seems permissible." (Opn. at 41 [emphasis in original].) The Court of Appeal also found the remedy afforded the parties by its opinion in Perez was dictated by a key factual difference: "In Perez, the court ordered the new trial motion restarted anew because it doubted the court could assume the evidentiary predicate without proper declarations from jurors, and remanded to place the burden back on the defendant, which the court's error had relieved the defense of; here, in contrast, the defense has already met its burden because it did file declarations from jurors establishing the evidentiary predicate to the motion." (Opn. at 41 [emphasis in original].)

The Court of Appeal also rejected the remedy of a remand, which it had previously made available to the defendant in *Perez*, based on its belief that the holding of that case should not "be extended to require the defense to reinvent the wheel, particularly considering the lengthy passage of time that has elapsed since the original, properly supported motion was filed." (Opn. at 41-42.) In a lengthy footnote, the Court of Appeal explained the reasons for its view that the time which had elapsed since the trial court had made its original ruling militated in favor of ordering a new trial as opposed to a remand:

[T]he fact that years have passed could well harm defendants by eroding the reliability of any evidence (whether from the fading memories as to the precise dynamics of the deliberations, or the coloring of memories from posttrial publicity, or simply the

inability to reassemble the entire jury to conduct the inquiry) that might be gleaned from ordering a *Hedgecock* hearing, as now proposed by the People.

(Opn. at 43, fn. 32.)¹

Since *Von Villas* relied on *Perez*, the Court of Appeal held those two cases shared the same infirmities. (Opn. at 43-44.) The Court of Appeal took issue with the remedy offered by the majority in *Von Villas*; namely, remanding the matter for a hearing so that live testimony could be taken from the jurors in instances where they had already provided evidence of misconduct in the declarations they had submitted. In that context, the Court of Appeal quoted the concurring and dissenting justice in *Von Villas*, who opined, "Conceding that Von Villas proved *once* that his trial was unfair, the majority opinion now – three years later – requires him to prove it again." (Opn. at 45 [emphasis in the original].) The Court of Appeal noted, "We agree with Justice Woods that mandating a hearing at which live testimony from jurors is solicited whenever any potential evidentiary

¹ In the same footnote, the Court of Appeal noted, "The defendants also argue the remedy now urged by the People – to order a *Hedgecock* hearing and then to revisit the new trial motion after the hearing – should be foreclosed under principles of judicial estoppel, because the prosecution below successfully opposed the defense request for a Hedgecock hearing, and the People's brief in the original appeal argued the Hedgecock hearing was properly denied by the trial court below." (Opn. at 42-43, fn. 32) [emphasis in original]; see also Opn. at 3-4, fn. 3, 39.) The Court of Appeal found it was "unnecessary definitively to apply judicial estoppel here," notwithstanding its conclusion that "the elements appear facially present in this case[.]" However, in light of the fact that the Court of Appeal's opinion found admissible several portions of the defense affidavits that the trial court had originally excluded from evidence, it is not inconsistent in the slightest, let alone "totally inconsistent," for Respondent to argue at this stage that appellants have established their entitlement to an evidentiary hearing and that a conditional reversal was the remedy that the Court of Appeal should have provided them. (Aguilar v. Lerner (2004) 32 Cal.4th 974, 987.)

conflicts exist, and barring the use of other evidentiary submissions to resolve motions for new trials premised on jury misconduct, is contrary to established precedent." (Opn. at 45.)

Finally, the Court of Appeal noted the court in *Bryant* had observed that "[t]he issues of misconduct asserted in this case are serious *and if proven by sworn evidence*, give rise to a presumption of prejudice," but decided that "[b]ecause the parties waived any objection to the unsworn statements at the suggestion of the trial court, the appropriate remedy is to return the matter to the trial court for a full and complete hearing with competent evidence." The Court of Appeal distinguished the instant case by finding that "As in *Bryant*, the issues of misconduct asserted below were serious, but here (unlike *Bryant*) the misconduct was "proven by sworn evidence, giv[ing] rise to a presumption of prejudice." (Opn. at 48 [emphasis in original].)

In this case, those portions of the defense affidavits which the Court of Appeal deemed admissible indicated that appellants' failure to testify was discussed at length by several jurors, their decisions not to take the stand played a large part in the jurors' verdicts, and the jurors concluded they were guilty for that reason. By contrast, the prosecution's affidavits indicated that only one juror briefly mentioned that appellants did not testify, and several other jurors, including the foreperson, immediately admonished him that he was not to consider that fact during his deliberations.

Though it is misconduct for a juror to comment on a defendant's failure to testify (*People v. Leonard* (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1370, 1425; *People v. Loker* (2008) 44 Cal.4th 691, 749), it is not prejudicial if the jury has declined to draw any adverse inferences from that fact. (*Leonard*, *supra*, 40 Cal.4th at pp. 1424-1425; *Loker*, *supra*, 44 Cal.4th at p. 749.) This is exactly the scenario which the prosecution's declarations described.

Though the defense declarations presented a different account of what happened in the jury room, they merely placed the nature of the misconduct that occurred here in dispute. (See *In re Carpenter* (1995) 9 Cal.4th 634, 657) ["Although prejudice is presumed once misconduct has been established, the initial burden is on defendant to prove the misconduct. We will not presume greater misconduct than the evidence shows"] (citation omitted); see also *In re Hamilton* (1999) 20 Cal.4th 273, 295 ["To hold that the mere existence of any preconceived notion as to the guilt or innocence of an accused, without more, is sufficient to rebut the presumption of a prospective juror's impartiality would be to establish an impossible standard. It is sufficient if the juror can lay aside his impression or opinion and render a verdict based on the evidence presented in court"].)

In *Hedgecock*, this Court discussed the many reasons why it was desirable for a trial court to have the discretion to hold an evidentiary hearing:

There are substantial advantages to a rule recognizing the trial court's discretion to order an evidentiary hearing at which jurors may testify. Most important, when compared to the use of affidavits, a hearing at which witnesses testify and are subject to cross-examination is a more reliable means of determining whether misconduct occurred."

(Hedgecock, supra, 51 Cal.3d at p. 417.) This Court also observed, "'A hearing permits counsel to probe the juror's memory, his reasons for acting as he did, and his understanding of the consequences of his actions. A hearing also permits the trial judge to observe the juror's demeanor under cross-examination and to evaluate his answers in light of the particular circumstances of the case.' " (Ibid (quoting Smith v. Phillips (1982) 455 U.S. 209, 222 [102 S.Ct. 940, 948, 71 L.Ed.2d 78].) Finally, this Court rebuffed the defendant's complaints that holding an evidentiary hearing years afterward would prejudice him:

We reject defendant's contention, made at oral argument, that because of the difficulty in relocating the jurors for a possible evidentiary hearing several years after the completion of the trial, we should direct the trial court to grant his motion for new trial. At this point, the claim that the parties may be unable to locate the jurors is entirely speculative and premature. In any event, defendant has presented no persuasive authority that he would be entitled to such relief.

(Hedgecock, supra, 51 Cal.3d at p. 421, fn. 11.)

This Court concluded that a remand was counseled under the circumstances before it because the trial court had not exercised its discretion to determine "whether an evidentiary hearing [was] necessary to resolve the allegations of juror misconduct, and whether jurors may be subpoenaed to testify at [the] hearing." (*Hedgecock*, *supra*, 51 Cal.3d at p. 420.) This Court therefore did not have occasion to determine whether it would be an abuse of discretion to deny the defendant such a hearing (*Id.* at p. 421), and thus left unaddressed the question of whether the trial court could make its determination based solely on the declarations that were already before it.

In the face of the disputed, material issues of fact in this case concerning the nature and extent of the misconduct that occurred, the Court of Appeal should have remanded the matter for a limited evidentiary hearing before it determined whether the presumption of prejudice had been rebutted, especially in light of the fact that two of the declarations the defense submitted in support of its motion were from the *same jurors* who provided clarifying declarations in support of the prosecution's opposition to the motion. (*Remmer v. United States* (1954) 347 U.S. 227, 229 [74 S.Ct. 450, 98 L.Ed. 654] ("We do not know from this record, nor does the petitioner know, what actually transpired, or whether the incidents that may have occurred were harmful or harmless").) This proposition is underscored by the many cases in which a hearing was held, and the jurors

who allegedly committed misconduct were questioned, before that analysis was undertaken. (See, e.g. *People v. Clark* (2011) 52 Cal.4th 856, 971 ("We have long recognized that, except when bias is apparent from the record, the trial judge is in the best position to assess the juror's state of mind during questioning"); *People v. Bennett* (2009) 45 Cal.4th 577, 625-626; *People v. Carter* (2005) 36 Cal.4th 1114, 1205-1206; *People v. Nesler* (1997) 16 Cal.4th 561, 570-574, 583 ("We look to the entire record to resolve this issue, keeping in mind that the trial court has found the relevant historical facts and resolved the conflicting evidence, but that the question of prejudice is for our independent determination"); *People v. Majors* (1998) 18 Cal.4th 385, 417-430; *People v. Honeycutt* (1977) 20 Cal.3d 150, 154-158.)

Though in other cases this Court has reached the question of prejudice without the benefit of a hearing, they involved circumstances where the declarations did not create any material, disputed issues of fact regarding the nature of the alleged misconduct. (See In re Stankewitz (1985) 40 Cal.3d 391; see also *People v. Hardy* (1992) 2 Cal.4th 86, 174 ("Because no material factual dispute was presented to the trial court it did not abuse its discretion in declining to hold a hearing to question [Juror] Lipman"); Leonard, supra, 40 Cal.4th at p. 1424; Loker, supra, 44 Cal.4th at p. 746 ("The parties agreed that there was no need to take live testimony from the jurors, and that the court could decide the motion based on the declarations"); People v. Danks (2004) 32 Cal.4th 269, 304-313; People v. Lewis (2001) 26 Cal.4th 334, 387-391; People v. Hord (1993) 15 Cal. App. 4th 711, 723 ("As stated by the trial court, there was no material conflict that the statements were made. The trial court accepted as true that the two improper topics were mentioned during deliberations and that some of the jurors heard the statements. The trial court also found the foreperson admonished the jury not to consider these matters.")

Viewed in their totality, the affidavits in this case are consistent in only one regard – that a single juror mentioned the fact that appellants had not testified.² (4 GCT 899, 901, 903.) The declarations in this case otherwise presented several material, disputed issues of fact: whether more than one juror mentioned appellants' failure to testify, and if so, how many jurors discussed it; how long the discussions lasted and how extensively the topic was discussed; whether the foreman admonished that juror or those jurors and how quickly he did so; and whether the juror or jurors agreed they would follow the court's instructions. Most important, the declarations created an additional material, disputed issue of fact, and the crucial one in this case – whether the juror or jurors who mentioned appellants' failure to testify drew the prohibited inference at all, by expressly linking appellants' silence to the question of their guilt or innocence.

Review of this case will permit this Court to provide guidance to intermediate appellate courts regarding the circumstances under which a remand for an evidentiary hearing, as opposed to an outright reversal, is warranted in the context of jury bias claims that present conflicting affidavits. What is more, given that appellants were convicted of torture, kidnapping, and murder, the instant case provides an apt vehicle for clarifying this important issue.

² In his affidavit Juror No. 5 declared, "I do not recall any mention by any juror regarding the fact that the defendants did not testify." (4 GCT 905.)

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent respectfully requests that this Petition for Review be granted.