# S209975



Supreme Court No. S209975

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF	)	CA No. D057655
CALIFORNIA,	)	Imperial County
	)	Case No. JCF21566
Plaintiff-Petitioner,	)	(Prior related case
	)	S204813)
V.	)	
	)	
FLOYD LAVENDER III and	)	
MICHAEL JAMES GAINES,	)	
	)	
Defendant-Respondent.	)	
	)	

## APPEAL FROM IMPERIAL COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT HONORABLE DONAL DONNELLY, JUDGE

APPELLANT GAINES' ANSWER TO
PETITION FOR REVIEW IN THE SUPREME COURT AFTER
THE UNPUBLISHED DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEAL,
FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION ONE,
REVERSING THE JUDGMENT

#### INTRODUCTION

In 2010, Michael Gaines and his cousin, Floyd Lavender, were convicted of torturing, kidnapping and killing a teen runaway in 2003, based on highly conflicted testimony from four drug-using witnesses to the alleged torture and kidnapping who never reported their ordeal to police. In July 2012, the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division One, reversed the convictions, finding them irreparably tainted by juror discussions describing the defendants' failure to testify as proof of their guilt. That same month, the Attorney General petitioned for rehearing, arguing for the first time ever in the case that the Court of Appeal could not reverse the convictions without an

additional evidentiary hearing on the juror misconduct claims, even though Mr. Gaines had properly filed juror and investigator declarations in support of his misconduct claim; the district attorney had successfully argued against a hearing in 2010; and the Attorney General had previously asserted in its appellate briefs that no hearing was necessary. The Court of Appeal denied rehearing, so the Attorney General asked this Court to require the case be remanded for an evidentiary hearing.

This Court refused to require that an evidentiary hearing be held; instead, it granted review and transferred the case back to the Court of Appeal with directions to consider three cases in which remands for further proceedings had been required. After considering supplemental briefing from both parties, the Court of Appeal issued a second opinion in March 2013, again reversing the convictions and explaining in detail why the cases cited by this Court's remand order did not require an evidentiary hearing in this case.

Unhappy with the result, the Attorney General has filed its second petition for review in this case, presenting exactly the same question it presented in its prior petition. The petition presents no split of authority or important question of law. This Court previously left the determination of when an evidentiary hearing must be held to the discretion of the trial court. (*People v. Hedgecock* (1990) 51 Cal.3d 395.) The opinion in this case no way

contradicts or undermines Hedgecock.

Because the petition here seeks nothing more than a different result, and because – as the Court of Appeal explained in its March 2013 opinion – requiring the defendants to "reinvent the wheel" at an evidentiary hearing years after the trial would be patently unfair [slip op. at 41-42], this Court should deny review.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

For purposes of this petition, the opinion accurately states the facts and procedural history relating to the issues presented here.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### PETITIONER'S CLAIM DOES NOT MERIT REVIEW

Four and a half years after a teen runaway's lifeless body was found in an Imperial County irrigation ditch, Michael Gaines and Floyd Lavender were charged with her kidnapping, torture and murder. Another two years after that, the two men were convicted, based on bizarre and wildly contradictory testimony from witnesses who supposedly used methamphetamine with the girl during her final hours yet who never contacted police about the all-night horror show of violence and torture they claimed to have experienced before the teen was killed.

Mr. Gaines and Mr. Lavender both exercised their Fifth Amendment

privilege not to testify. In direct contradiction of the trial court's instructions, at least one juror and perhaps as many as four jurors discussed the defendants' failure to testify and commented that the omission constituted substantive evidence of their guilt. Based on this misconduct, the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division One, concluded that Mr. Gaines and Mr. Lavender deserved a new trial.

Petitioner sought review, and on October 24, 2012, this Court directed the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division One, to reconsider its decision in light of *People v. Bryant* (2011) 191 Cal.App.4th 1457; *People v. Von Villas* (1992) 11 Cal.App.4th 175; and *People v. Perez* (1992) 4 Cal.App.4th 893. In a thoughtful, well-reasoned opinion, the Court of Appeal analyzed each of those cases closely and found on March 6, 2013, that no further jury misconduct hearing is necessary. It once again reversed Mr. Gaines' convictions and ordered a new trial, explaining that "because the evidentiary landscape here was devoid of forensic certainties and therefore turned entirely on close and substantial credibility assessments of the veracity of prosecution witnesses whose testimony was at best in disarray," the prosecution had failed to rebut the presumption of prejudice arising from the misconduct. [Slip op. at 38.]

Having lost twice in the Court of Appeal, petitioner has filed its second

petition in this Court asking it to order a new juror misconduct hearing rather than a new trial. Petitioner does not and cannot successfully rebut the lower court's explanation of why this case presents a starkly different procedural history than those remanded for further proceedings in *Perez, Von Villas* and *Bryant*. Neither can petitioner satisfactorily explain why it fought tooth and nail to prevent an evidentiary hearing until the Court of Appeal ruled against it in 2012, in violation of judicial estoppel principles.

More than 20 years ago, this Court made clear that a trial court faced with conflicting evidence in support of a juror misconduct claim *may but need not* order an evidentiary hearing to resolve material conflicts in the evidence. (*People v. Hedgecock* (1990) 51 Cal.3d 395.) Since that time, no case has set forth any broad rule delineating when a trial court abuses its discretion for failing to conduct such a hearing. Rather, the courts have addressed a variety of discrete factual scenarios and have sent cases back for hearings only a few times, when the trial court's procedures for adjudicating juror misconduct claims were found wholly inadequate. (E.g., *People v. Perez, supra*, 4 Cal.App.4th at p. 905 [no juror declarations filed and motion for new trial only made after court said, in response to request for funding to interview jurors, that it would assume all 12 jurors would agree misconduct occurred]; *People v. Von Villas, supra*, 11 Cal.App.4th at pp. 251-253 [no

jurors signed affidavits but parties stipulated investigator would testify that jurors told him about misconduct]; *People v. Bryant, supra*, 191 Cal.App.4th 1476 [neither party presented declarations signed under penalty of perjury].)

The Court of Appeal here correctly and carefully determined which evidence should have been admitted at the misconduct hearing, then properly exercised its independent judgment (*People v. Nesler* (1997) 16 Cal.4th 561, 582) to find the prosecution did not rebut the presumption of prejudice. [Slip op. at 18-38.] Both of the Court of Appeal's opinions in this case were based on the specific facts before it, including the strength of the evidence presented against Mr. Gaines, and neither created new law nor contradicted existing law.<sup>1</sup>

Petitioner claims the Court of Appeal here "sidestepped the broader proposition" advanced by *Perez, Von Villas* and *Bryant*, by supposedly failing to acknowledge that some allegations of juror misconduct require evidentiary

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Petitioner seems to insinuate that the Court of Appeal did something nefarious by disagreeing with *People v. Perez* in an unpublished opinion. (See Pet. Rev. at 4.) First, this criticism is unwarranted given the fact that petitioner never requested that the opinion be published. Second, this Court should note that no evidentiary hearing was ever held in *Perez*. On remand, after affidavits were actually produced, the trial court found it unnecessary. (*Perez v. Marshall* (S.D. Cal. 1996) 946 F.Supp. 1521, 1537.) Indeed, a closer look at the remand order in *Perez* shows it did not require the trial court to hold a hearing but only required further proceedings consistent with its ruling that the trial court cannot adjudicate a motion for new trial based on an assumption that all twelve jurors would admit committing misconduct.

hearings. [Pet. Rev. at 4.] Not so. It simply found that no hearing was necessary to resolve the claim here. None of the opinions cited by petitioner holds that an evidentiary hearing *must* be held any time there is a conflict in the evidence. Indeed, any such holding would directly contradict this Court's holding in *Hedgecock*, which grants trial courts the discretion to order hearings when faced with contradictions. (*Hedgecock*, *supra*, 51 Cal.3d at p. 415.)

In examining this case and the facts before it, the Court of Appeal correctly explained that: (1) the prosecution's declarations claiming to clarify the defense declarations failed to explain the discrepancies between them [slip op. at 20, fn. 21]; (2) because jurors here expressly linked the defendants' failure to testify to adverse inferences of guilt, the foreman's act of quashing the discussion would be unlikely to "have any curative effect on a jury that has already evinced a willingness to disregard the court's instructions" [slip op. at 37, fn. 31]; (3) the evidence in this case was so conflicted in every regard that it would be difficult for the prosecution to rebut the presumption of prejudice [slip op. at 34-38]<sup>2</sup>; and (4) it would be unfair to order a hearing now "because

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Neither *Perez*, nor *Von Villas*, nor *Bryant* involved such flimsy and conflicted facts as this case involved. *Perez* involved an inmate-on-inmate assault eyewitnessed by a guard; *Von Villas* involved two police officers who were hired to kill a man and against whom the woman hiring them testified; and *Bryant* involved a distinctive-looking defendant who was arrested minutes after he stole a car at gunpoint and was identified by the victims immediately.

the defense in this case, having 'proved *once* that the trial was unfair, [should nearly] three years later [not be] require[d] to prove it again." [Citations omitted.] [Slip op. at 48.]

By challenging the Court of Appeal's holding that the prosecution here failed to rebut the presumption of prejudice, petitioner asks this Court to break new ground and strip the appellate courts of their authority to reject unsupported factual determinations and to independently determine the prejudice arising from the misconduct.

In sum, petitioner seeks review in this Court to try to obtain a different result, not because the opinion below broke new ground or created a conflict among the Courts of Appeal. Even petitioner's quest for a different result is misplaced, since the Court of Appeal correctly and appropriately followed the law. This case thus is not appropriate for review under Rule 8.500(b).

This Court should deny review.

#### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Mr. Gaines respectfully requests that this

Court deny the Attorney General's petition for review.